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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA 

CHARLOTTE DIVISION 

3:13-CV-196 
 
U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING  

COMMISSION, 

 

                     Plaintiff, 

vs. 

 

JAMES HARVEY MASON, 

 

                      Defendant, 

 

vs. 

 

Relief Defendants 

JHM FOREX ONLY POOL and 

FOREX TRADING AT HOME. 

 

 
) 

) 

) 

) 

)  

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

ORDER 

 

 THIS MATTER is before the Court upon Defendant James Harvey Mason’s Motion for 

Release of Funds (Doc. No. 73), Joseph W. Grier, III’s (the “Receiver”) Response in Opposition 

(Doc. No. 76), Defendant’s Reply (Doc. No. 81), and the Receiver’s Surreply (Doc. No. 82). 

Defendant asks the Court to release funds representing his Social Security benefits located in a 

bank account that is currently subject to an asset freeze in this case. Defendant also notes that the 

U.S. Commodities Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) does not oppose this motion. For the 

reasons stated herein, the motion is GRANTED. 

I. BACKGROUND 

 The CFTC instituted this civil enforcement action against Mason on March 27, 2013, 

alleging violations of various provisions of the Commodities Exchange Act (Doc. No. 1). On the 

same day, the Court entered a statutory restraining order that seized and froze all bank accounts 
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and assets associated with Mason and the Relief Defendants (Doc. No. 11), and also appointed as 

receiver of Mason’s assets Joseph W. Grier, III. On May 22, 2013, the Court entered a 

preliminary injunction which confirmed the powers of the Receiver (Doc. No. 22). Paragraph 18 

of that order requires an order of the Court to withdraw, transfer, disburse, or otherwise dispose 

of any of the seized funds. 

 Mason receives Social Security benefits which have been and continue to be deposited 

directly into an account held jointly by Mason and his wife at SunTrust Bank (the “Joint 

Account”), which is one of the accounts that is subject to the asset freeze pursuant to the 

statutory restraining order and preliminary injunction issued in this case. On June 13, 2014, 

Mason filed the instant motion seeking the release of those funds. Mason’s Reply clarified that, 

due to his having entered a plea of guilty in his related criminal case, he only seeks the release of 

Social Security benefits that may have been deposited before June 27, 2014. 

II. DISCUSSION 

 Mason argues for the release of his Social Security benefits pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 407, 

which generally exempts such benefits from levy, attachment, or other legal process. 42 U.S.C. § 

407(a). The only exception to this rule occurs when a law expressly limits or supersedes § 407 by 

referencing it directly. Id. § 407(b). Mason notes that the statutory charges against him result 

from alleged violations of 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(A), (C); 7 U.S.C. §§ 6o(1)(A), (B); and 17 

C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(2), none of which expressly reference § 407. To the extent Mason’s benefits 

could be garnished under a future victim restitution order or IRS tax lien, he notes that these 

benefits have already been subjected to the maximum 15% garnishment due to a restitution order 

from a previous conviction. See United States v. Mason, 41 F. App’x 612 (2002) (affirming 
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Mason’s previous conviction for wire fraud and order to pay $30,000 in restitution); see also 26 

U.S.C. § 6331(h) (capping garnishment of Social Security benefits at 15% for repayment or 

collection of taxes); 18 U.S.C. § 3613(c) (restitution orders pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663A 

treated as a tax lien in favor of the United States). 

 In his response, the Receiver asks the Court to adopt an “implied exception” to § 407 

advanced by the Eleventh Circuit in Citronelle-Mobile Gathering, Inc. v. Watkins, where the 

recipient does not require the benefits “to satisfy his or her basic needs.” 934 F.2d 1180, 1191-92 

(11th Cir. 1991). The Receiver acknowledges that this “exception” has been rejected outside the 

Eleventh Circuit, see, e.g., In re Franklin, 506 B.R. 765, 772 (Bankr. C.D. Ill. 2014); otherwise, 

the exception appears to run directly counter to the statutory language of § 407. See Law v. 

Siegel, 134 S. Ct. 1188, 1194 (2014) (explaining that courts “may not contravene specific 

statutory provisions”). Additionally, Citronelle-Mobile Gathering arose from a highly unusual 

set of facts not present here. In that case, the defendant sought to recover less than $2,900 in 

Social Security benefits despite the fact that he had sole control of corporate assets of over $10 

million and had successfully fled to Switzerland. 934 F.2d at 1192. Mason, on the other hand, 

has been found indigent and is being represented by the Federal Public Defender in his criminal 

case. For these reasons, the Court declines to apply the reasoning of the Eleventh Circuit in 

Citronelle-Mobile Gathering. 

 The Receiver’s remaining arguments in opposition center around the possibility that 

Mason’s Social Security benefits could be subject to a future order of restitution in his criminal 

case, or that Mason may be obligated to forfeit these benefits pursuant to a plea agreement he has 

entered into with the U.S. Attorney. But this Court cannot withhold benefits to which Mason is 
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entitled by statute pursuant to an order that has not been issued, or pursuant to any agreement 

that Mason may have with the U.S. Attorney. For the purposes of the receivership, Mason’s 

Social Security benefits are governed by 42 U.S.C. § 407, and they are not receivership assets. 

As such, they must be returned to him. 

ORDER 

 IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendant’s Motion for Release of Funds (Doc. 

No. 73) is GRANTED. The Receiver is directed to: 

1. Provide an accounting of any funds held in the Joint Account that is subject to the May 

22, 2013 preliminary injunction; and 

2. Disburse to Mason within five (5) business days the amount of all Social Security 

benefits deposited into the Joint Account prior to the entry of his guilty plea on June 27, 

2014. 

SO ORDERD. 

 Signed: September 5, 2014 
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